

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE LIQUOR COMMISSION

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS PROFESSIONAL ADVERTISING SERVICES RFP 2025-03-ADVERTISING

Issued
March 14, 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section 1: Overview and Schedule of Events	4
A. Executive Summary	4
B. Schedule of Events	
C. About the New Hampshire Liquor Commission	5
D. Vendor Instructions	
Section 2: Requirements and Scope of Work	6
A. Minimum Qualifications	
B. Deliverables and Scope of Work	6
C. General Provisions	
Section 3: Contract Terms and Conditions	11
A. Non-Exclusive Contract	11
B. Award	11
C. Anticipated Contract Term	
D. Standard Contract Terms	11
E. Subcontractors	11
F. Related Documents Required	
Section 4: Request for Proposal Process	
A. NHLC Point of Contact	
B. Restriction of Contact with NHLC Employees	13
C. Vendor Inquiries	
Section 5: RFP Terms and Conditions	
A. Debarment	14
B. Proposal Preparation Cost	
C. Validity of Proposal	
D. RFP Addendum	
E. Non-Collusion	
F. Property of the Agency	
G. Proposal Confidentiality	
H. Public Disclosure	
I. Electronic Posting of RFP Results and Resulting Contract	
J. Non-Commitment	16
K. Ethical Requirements	
L. Challenges to Identification of Selected Vendor	
Section 6: Proposal Submission Instructions	
A. Proposal Format.	
B. Deadline	
C. Submission Location and Instructions	
Section 7: Proposal Organization and Content	
A. Proposal Organization	
B. Technical Proposal Components	
C. Cost Proposal Components	
D. Technical Proposal Content	
Section 8: Evaluation of Proposals	

A. Criteria for Evaluation and Scoring	23
B. Planned Evaluation Steps	24
C. Step 1: Initial Screening	
D. Step 2: Preliminary Technical Scoring of Proposals	
E. Step 3: Oral Presentation and Agency Tour	
F. Step 4: Final Technical Scoring of Proposals and Oral Presentations	
G. Step 5: Cost Proposal Review	
H. No Best and Final Offer	
I. Final Selection	
J. Rights of the Agency in Accepting and Evaluating Proposals	
Appendix A: Cost Proposal Worksheet	
Appendix B: Form P-37 State of New Hampshire General Provisions and Exhibits	

SECTION 1: OVERVIEW AND SCHEDULE OF EVENTS

A. Executive Summary

As a state government agency engaged in both the retail sale of wine and spirits as well as the regulatory control of alcoholic beverages, the New Hampshire Liquor Commission (NHLC) seeks to procure services from a full-service advertising agency (Vendor or Agency). With an anticipated budget of \$3 million per state fiscal year, the Vendor will be responsible for all facets of advertising, marketing, and public relations from strategic development through implementation across a full complement of media outlets. The Vendor will be required to present cutting edge, innovative ideas and methods for enriching and growing the NHLC brand. The NHLC expects the Vendor to use sound research to support its strategic recommendations and to evaluate campaign effectiveness. In addition to traditional advertising, the NHLC expects the Vendor to dynamically employ social media outlets and new emerging platforms.

The selected Vendor must develop a strategy to differentiate the NHLC's retail stores from other competing states and retailers to protect and increase market share. The Vendor will also be required to develop and execute public service campaigns that promote responsible alcohol consumption.

Additionally, the Vendor will be required to manage the user interface and user experiences for the NHLC's websites used by both consumers and licensees, and make recommendations to ensure websites are inviting and user-friendly, with versatile search capabilities across all NHLC Liquor and Wine Outlets. Also, the Vendor will be expected to access and update any marketing pages, banners, and/or advertising materials on a continual basis.

The contract resulting from this Request for Proposals will be a Not-to-Exceed contract for the term of (5) years commencing July 1, 2025, or from the date of approval of the Governor and Executive Council, whichever is later, and ending on June 30, 2030. The contract term may be extended by an additional two (2) terms of two (2) years each at the sole option of the NHLC, subject to the parties' prior written agreement and required governmental approvals including Governor and Executive Council.

B. Schedule of Events

The following table provides a Schedule of Events for this Request for Proposals (RFP). The Agency reserves the right to amend this Schedule at its sole discretion and at any time through a published Addendum.

EVENT	DATE	LOCAL
		TIME (ET)
RFP Issued	3/14/25	N/A
Deadline for Vendors to Submit Inquiries	3/26/25	2:00 PM
Deadline for NHLC to Issue Responses to Vendor Inquiries	3/31/25	2:00 PM
Submission Deadline for RFP Proposals by Vendors	4/21/25	2:00 PM

Timeframe for Oral Presentations and Agency Tours	5/5/25 — 5/9/25	TBD
Estimated Notification of Vendor Selection	5/12/25	N/A

C. About the New Hampshire Liquor Commission

The NHLC regulates the manufacture, possession, sale, consumption, importation, use, storage, transportation, and delivery of wine, spirits, and malt or brewed beverages in New Hampshire. All sales of wine and spirits in the State, with the exception of wines sold by licensees of the NHLC or by direct shippers, are made through the 65 wine and liquor retail locations, known as New Hampshire Liquor & Wine Outlets, operated by the NHLC or through warehouses owned or contracted by the NHLC. These sales include both retail sales direct to individual consumers and wholesale sales to licensed establishments for consumption either on or off the premises. In addition to liquor and wine sales, the NHLC collects license fees for the manufacturing, sale, transportation, or warehousing of alcoholic beverages and a per gallon tax on beer sold by wholesale distributors and beverage manufacturers in New Hampshire.

The NHLC is a leading retailer in the beverage alcohol industry and a crucial resource for the State of New Hampshire. In Fiscal Year 2023, the NHLC generated \$756.7 million in annual sales, delivering \$165 million to the state in revenue to support critical state programs. Twelve million customers annually from across North America make purchases from the NHLC's expansive offerings of tax-free wine and spirits. The NHLC is recognized as an industry leader for our innovative approach to retailing and customer service, accomplished through our dedicated team of over 1,300 employees.

By law, the primary duties of the NHLC are to optimize profitability, maintain proper controls, assume responsibility for effective and efficient operations, and provide service to customers. The NHLC is also required to enforce the laws and regulations governing the purchase, consumption, and control over alcoholic beverages throughout the State, in addition to monitoring youth access to tobacco products. The NHLC is led by its Chairman and Deputy Commissioner. There are three Divisions within the NHLC: the Division of Enforcement and Licensing; the Division of Marketing, Merchandising, and Warehousing; and the Division of Administration. The Division of Enforcement and Licensing is responsible for enforcing the State's alcohol and tobacco laws and licensing businesses to sell such products; the Division of Marketing, Merchandising, and Warehousing oversees the NHLC's functions related to purchasing, merchandising, warehousing, and distributing of alcoholic beverages, as well as operation of the retail locations; and the Division of Administration supports the NHLC's retail and regulatory operations through its legal, human resources, information technology, finance, and internal audit units.

D. Vendor Instructions

Interested vendors must read the entire RFP and submit the required documents in the manner specified in the RFP. Vendors are responsible for reviewing the most updated information related to this RFP before submitting proposals. In this RFP, "vendor" means a person or entity who offers products or services for sale.

SECTION 2: REQUIREMENTS AND SCOPE OF WORK

A. Minimum Qualifications

- 1. The Vendor must maintain an office capable of providing a full range of in-house advertising and marketing services. Vendor must have a New Hampshire office situated such that key Vendor personnel can respond in person to NHLC needs as they arise.
- 2. The successful Vendor will demonstrate expertise in consumer marketing in both traditional forums and emerging technologies.
- **3.** The successful Vendor will demonstrate expertise in direct-to-consumer marketing to increase the customer base and build customer loyalty of the NH Liquor and Wine Outlet brand.

B. Deliverables and Scope of Work

- 1. Vendor shall provide all facets of advertising, marketing and public relations services from strategic development through implementation, which shall include but not be limited to:
 - a. All aspects of creative design and image branding, including:
 - i. Design, copywriting and proofreading
 - ii. Traditional media planning, including rate negotiation and advertising placement
 - **b.** Production of marketing materials, artwork and advertising for use in retail stores, including:
 - i. Promotional and educational videos
 - ii. Category brochures and display holders
 - iii. Monthly sale signage
 - iv. Category signage
 - v. Employee shirts with branding
 - vi. Marketing materials for new store openings
 - vii. In-store radio and television advertising for NHLC promotions
 - c. Web-based, electronic and traditional advertising, including:
 - i. Radio
 - ii. Social media, such as Facebook, Instagram, X and other viable outlets
 - iii. Exact-target monthly direct-to-consumer email deployments with coupons and "Insider Picks"
 - iv. Exact-target monthly email deployments to on-premise and off-premise licensees, such as "Mixology Minute" and "Grocers' Wine Connection"
 - v. Store recordings, including but not limited to phone greetings, advising of store hours, product specials, events and other offers
 - vi. Print ads and coupons
 - vii. Digital ads
 - viii. Advertising specifically targeting Massachusetts, Maine and Vermont consumers

- **d.** Special events development, advertising and support. Special events include, but are not limited to, tasting events, managers' meetings, employee and broker awards, Wine Week, Distiller's Showcase, Spirits Week, Restaurant Week sponsorship and themed seasonal events. Responsibilities include:
 - i. Managing events
 - ii. Producing event posters and program books
 - iii. Advertising events through social media and customer email list
 - iv. Preparing set-up for online ticket ordering
 - v. Assisting with securing venues
 - vi. Securing photographers and videographers
 - vii. Securing catering services for events
 - viii. Developing and producing promotional items
 - ix. Attending and assisting with certain events
- e. Collaborating with the NHLC and its other vendors to provide visually appealing and interactive NHLC business-to-business and business-to-consumer platforms. The websites shall incorporate offerings such as food and wine pairings, product descriptions, flavor profiles and recipes to provide an enhanced user experience. Vendor shall provide accurate information and images of the NHLC's product inventory on the websites. Vendor shall alert the NHLC of any issue regarding website accuracy or service interruptions.
- **f.** Interacting with web service providers as needed on the NHLC's behalf.
- 2. Prior to engaging in production of any media, Vendor shall obtain approval from the NHLC Director of Marketing, Sales, Merchandising and Warehousing ("Director") or his or her designee.
- 3. Vendor shall incorporate media and determine media placement in a manner designed to maximize the effectiveness of any budgeted media spend. Vendor shall present and obtain approval for media placement strategy from the Director in advance of each quarterly plan.
- **4.** Vendor shall ensure compliance with RSA 175:4, including the requirement that 80% of advertising shall be with out-of-state media.
- 5. Vendor's account team shall attend weekly meetings with NHLC to plan, coordinate and review marketing campaigns and initiatives. Vendor shall maintain a perpetual agenda of all current and upcoming initiatives. Vendor shall present campaign ideas, including creative and media plans, and review status of task completion for works in progress. On a monthly basis, Vendor shall present an analysis of outcomes and effectiveness of concluded initiatives. The Vendor's principle overseeing the NHLC account will be expected to attend the weekly meetings in person or virtually.
- **6.** Vendor shall monitor emerging marketing technologies and trends. Vendor shall present ideas for utilizing promising innovations in the NHLC's marketing mix.
- 7. At least quarterly, Vendor's principle shall review current budget expenditures and remaining funds to ensure spending is within prescribed limits.

- **8.** Subject to approval, Contractor may subcontract for the following specialized services: *Voila* publication, in-store fixtures advertising, in-store radio and television program content, and public relations. Contractor shall only enter into such subcontracts upon written approval from the NHLC.
- **9.** The NHLC may authorize Vendor and its approved subcontractors to enter into agreements with third parties for the purpose of selling promotional opportunities within retail stores, digital advertising platforms, events or other venues made available by the NHLC. Terms of these agreements shall be approved in advance by the NHLC. Under no circumstances shall the third party be deemed an employee of the Vendor or the NHLC.
- **10.** Vendor shall provide printing services for project needs that cannot be met through the Bureau of Graphic Services. Vendor shall provide printing services either directly or via subcontract based on specifications and proofs approved by the NHLC.
- 11. Vendor shall provide services for the NHLC's Division of Enforcement and Licensing within a specified budget separate from the broader NHLC marketing budget. Services shall include:
 - a. Sponsored events planning;
 - b. Sponsorship management;
 - **c.** Advertising;
 - d. Social media; and
 - e. Communications.

C. General Provisions

- 1. Vendor shall ensure that the NHLC is able to conduct online collaboration for advertising projects by making files compatible with the State of New Hampshire ("State") requirements.
- 2. The NHLC may select specific subcontractors to perform special projects.
- 3. Vendor shall bear all losses resulting to it on account of the amount or character of the work, or because the nature of the work or area in which the work being done is different from what was estimated or expected, or on account of the weather, natural elements or other causes.
- **4.** Vendor's employees and agents shall not represent themselves as employees or agents of the State or NHLC.
- **5.** Vendor shall be responsible in the event of theft or destruction of state property or personal property of state employees by its employees or agents.

6. Ownership of Work(s):

The NHLC shall own all right, title and interest in and to any software, documentation, products, point of sale materials, advertising for television, radio, print, internet or other media, or deliverables that result from services rendered by the Vendor to the NHLC under any resulting contract ("Work(s)"). For all purposes of copyright law, the Work(s) shall be deemed Works made for hire and copyright shall belong solely to the NHLC. The Vendor shall, at no additional expense to the NHLC, assist the NHLC to obtain copyrights, trademarks, or patents for all such Work(s) in the United States and any other countries. The Vendor agrees to execute all papers and to give all facts necessary to secure United States or foreign country copyrights and patents, and to transfer or cause to transfer to the NHLC all the right, title and interest in and to such Work(s). The Vendor represents and warrants that the Work(s) shall be free of any claim of any third person or entity based on patent or copyright infringement, trade secret misappropriation, or otherwise.

7. Confidentiality:

Vendor acknowledges that it will be necessary for the NHLC to disclose certain confidential and proprietary information to Vendor in order for Vendor to perform duties under any resulting contract. Vendor acknowledges that disclosure to a third party or misuse of this proprietary or confidential information would irreparably harm the NHLC. Accordingly, Vendor will not disclose or use, either during or after the term of any resulting contract, any proprietary or confidential information of the NHLC without the NHLC's prior written permission except to the extent necessary to perform services on NHLC's behalf. Proprietary or confidential information is information that would not be subject to disclosure by the NHLC pursuant to RSA 91-A, and includes:

- Business or marketing plans or strategies, operating procedures, trade secrets, design formulas, know-how and processes, computer programs and inventories, discoveries, and improvements of any kind, sales projections, and pricing information;
- Information belonging to customers and suppliers of the NHLC about whom Vendor gained knowledge as a result of Vendor's services to NHLC; and
- Other information as the NHLC may from time to time identify as confidential and not subject to disclosure.

Upon termination of Vendor's services to the NHLC, or at the NHLC's request, Vendor shall deliver to the NHLC all materials in Vendor's possession relating to the NHLC's business.

8. Accounting Records:

The Vendor shall maintain all pertinent financial and accounting records and evidence pertaining to provided services and/or any resulting contract in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles and other procedures specified by the State. Financial and accounting records shall be made available upon request to the NHLC, the State, or its designees at all times during the contract period and for three (3) years from the expiration date of any resulting contract or any extensions thereof.

9. Changes to Services:

The NHLC may make changes, revisions or request enhancements to the Scope of Work at any time by written Change Order. Within five (5) business days of Vendor's receipt of

a Change Order, Vendor shall advise the NHLC, in detail, of any impact the requested changes, revisions, or enhancements will have on the terms of the contract, including but not limited to, on the cost.

Vendor may propose a change to the Scope of Work by written Change Order, identifying any impact the requested changes, revisions, or enhancements will have on the terms of the contract, including but not limited to, on the cost. The NHLC shall acknowledge receipt of Vendor's requested Change Order within five (5) business days. The NHLC must review and approve all Change Orders in writing. The NHLC shall be deemed to have rejected the Change Order if the Parties are unable to reach an agreement in writing within thirty (30) days of receipt of the Change Order.

Change orders resulting in an increase of Price Limitation, an extension of time for Contract completion or a significant change to the scope of the Contract shall require approval by the Governor and Executive Council.

A Change Order which is accepted and executed by both Parties, and if applicable approved by Governor and Council, shall amend the terms of the resulting contract.

10. Background Checks

The Vendor shall conduct criminal background checks and not utilize any staff, including subcontractors, to fulfill the obligations of a resulting contract who have been convicted of any crime of dishonesty, including but not limited to criminal fraud, or otherwise convicted of any felony or misdemeanor offense for which incarceration for up to one (1) year is an authorized penalty. The Vendor shall promote and maintain an awareness of the importance of securing the State's information among the Vendor's employees and agents.

The NHLC may, at its sole expense, conduct reference and background screening of the Vendor staff who work on or have access to the NHLC's account. The NHLC shall maintain the confidentiality of background screening results in accordance with a resulting contract.

SECTION 3: CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS

A. Non-Exclusive Contract

Any resulting contract from this RFP will be a non-exclusive contract. The NHLC reserves the right, at its discretion, to retain other contractors to provide any of the services or deliverables identified in this RFP or make an award by item, part or portion of an item, group of items, or total Proposal.

B. Award

If the NHLC decides to award a contract as a result of this RFP process, any award is contingent upon approval of the contract by the Governor and Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire and upon continued appropriation of funding for the contract.

C. Anticipated Contract Term

The Vendor shall be fully prepared to commence work after full execution of the contract by the parties, and the receipt of required governmental approvals, including, but not limited to, Governor and Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire approval ("Effective Date").

The initial Contract Term will begin on the Effective Date and continue through June 30, 2030. The Contract Term may be extended for up to two (2), two-year terms ("Extended Contract Term") at the sole option of the State, subject to the parties' prior written agreement on terms and applicable fees for each Extended Contract Term, contingent upon satisfactory vendor performance, continued funding and Governor and Executive Council approval.

D. Standard Contract Terms

The NHLC will require the selected Vendor to execute a contract using the Standard Terms and Conditions of the State of New Hampshire (Form P-37) which is attached as Appendix B. In no event is a Vendor to submit its own standard contract terms and conditions as a replacement for the State's terms in response to this solicitation.

The terms of this RFP and the selected Vendor's Proposal will be used to form the terms of any resulting contract. The resulting contract may incorporate some or all of the selected Vendor's Proposal. References in the P-37 to Exhibits A, B and C are references to the required structure of any resulting contract (Exhibit A – Special Provisions/Amendments to the P-37, Exhibit B – Scope of Services, and Exhibit C – Payment Terms) and are not references to sections of this RFP. To the extent that a Vendor believes that exceptions to the contract terms in Appendix B will be necessary for the Vendor to enter into the contract, the vendor must note those issues during the Vendor Inquiry Period, as further described in Section 4(C).

E. Subcontractors

The Vendor shall remain wholly responsible for performance of the entire contract regardless of whether Subcontractor is used. The State will consider the Vendor to be the sole point of contact with regard to all contractual matters, including payment of any and all charges resulting from any contract.

F. Related Documents Required

The selected Vendor will be required to submit the following documents prior to Contract approval:

- 1. Certificate of Good Standing obtained from the Secretary of State of New Hampshire.
- 2. Certificate of Authority/Vote which authorizes, by position, a representative(s) of the Vendor to enter into an Agreement or amendment with the State of New Hampshire.
- **3.** Certificate of Insurance Liability evidencing coverage as required under the Contract. Workers' Compensation coverage must comply with State of NH RSA 281-A.

SECTION 4: REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL PROCESS

A. NHLC Point of Contact

The <u>sole point of contact</u> for this RFP, from the RFP issue date until the approval of the resulting contract by the Governor and Executive Council is:

Janet Donnelly
Janet.M.Donnelly@liquor.nh.gov

B. Restriction of Contact with NHLC Employees

From the date of release of this RFP until an award is made and announced regarding the selection of a Vendor, all communication with personnel employed by or under contract with the NHLC regarding this RFP is prohibited unless first approved by the RFP Point of Contact listed above. NHLC employees have been directed not to hold conferences and/or discussions concerning this RFP with any potential Vendor during the selection process, unless otherwise authorized by the RFP Point of Contact. Vendors may be disqualified for violating this restriction on communications.

C. Vendor Inquiries

All inquiries concerning this RFP, including but not limited to, requests for clarifications, questions, any changes to the RFP, and any exceptions to the contract terms in Appendix B, including the Form P-37, shall be submitted <u>via email</u> to the RPF Point of Contact specified above. Inquiries must be received by the end of Vendor Inquiry Period (see Schedule of Events herein).

When submitting inquiries, the Vendor must identify the RFP name and the number and include the Vendor's name, telephone number, and e-mail address.

The NHLC will issue responses to properly submitted inquiries on or before the date specified in the Schedule of Events; however, this date is subject to change at the NHLC's discretion. The NHLC may consolidate and/or paraphrase questions for sufficiency and clarity. The NHLC may, at its discretion, amend this RFP on its own initiative or in response to issues raised by inquiries, as it deems appropriate. In response to requested exceptions to P-37, the NHLC will review requested exceptions and accept, reject or note that it is open to negotiation of the proposed exception at its sole discretion. Questions about or requested exceptions to the RFP, Form P-37 and/or any relevant attachments not raised during the inquiry period are waived. Oral statements, representations, clarifications, or modifications concerning the RFP shall not be binding upon the NHLC. Official responses by the NHLC will be made only in writing by the process described above. Vendors shall be responsible for reviewing the most updated information related to this RFP before submitting a proposal.

SECTION 5: RFP TERMS AND CONDITIONS

A. Debarment

Vendors who are ineligible to bid on proposals, bids or quotes issued by the Department of Administrative Services, Division of Procurement and Support Services pursuant to the provisions of RSA 21-I:11-c shall not be considered eligible for an award under this RFP.

B. Proposal Preparation Cost

By submitting a proposal, a vendor agrees that in no event shall the NHLC be either responsible for or held liable for any costs incurred by a vendor in the preparation of or in connection with the Proposal, or for work performed prior to the Effective Date of a resulting Contract.

C. Validity of Proposal

Proposals must be valid for one hundred and eighty (180) days following the deadline for submission of Proposals in Schedule of Events, or until the Effective Date of any resulting Contract, whichever is later.

D. RFP Addendum

The NHLC reserves the right to amend this RFP at its discretion, prior to the Proposal submission deadline. In the event of an addendum to this RFP, the NHLC, at its sole discretion, may extend the Proposal submission deadline, as it deems appropriate.

E. Non-Collusion

The vendor's signature on a Proposal submitted in response to this RFP guarantees that the prices, terms and conditions, and work quoted have been established without collusion with other Vendors and without effort to preclude the NHLC from obtaining the best possible competitive Proposal.

F. Property of the Agency

All material received in response to this RFP shall become the property of the NHLC and will not be returned to the vendor. Upon contract award, the NHLC reserves the right to use any information presented in any Proposal.

G. Proposal Confidentiality

Unless necessary for the approval of a contract, the substance of a proposal must remain confidential until the Effective Date of any contract resulting from this RFP. A Vendor's disclosure or distribution of Proposals other than to the NHLC may be grounds for disqualification.

H. Public Disclosure

The information submitted in response to this RFP (including all materials submitted in connection with it, such as attachments, exhibits, addenda, and presentations), any resulting contract, and information provided during the contractual relationship may be subject to public disclosure under Right-to-Know law, including RSA 91-A. In addition, in accordance with RSA 9-F:1, any contract entered into as a result of this RFP will be made accessible to the public online.

Confidential, commercial or financial information may be exempt from public disclosure under RSA 91-A:5, IV. If a Vendor believes any information submitted in response to this RFP should

be kept confidential, the Vendor must specifically identify that information where it appears in the submission in a manner that draws attention to the designation and must mark/stamp each page of the materials that the Vendor claims must be exempt from disclosure as "CONFIDENTIAL." Vendors must also provide a letter to the person listed as the point of contact for this RFP, identifying the specific page number and section of the information you consider to be confidential, commercial or financial and providing your rationale for each designation. Marking or designating an entire proposal, attachment or section as confidential shall neither be accepted nor honored by the NHLC. Vendors must also provide a separate copy of the full and complete document, fully redacting those portions and shall note on the applicable page or pages that the redacted portion or portions are "confidential."

Submissions which do not conform to these instructions by failing to include a redacted copy (if necessary), by failing to include a letter specifying the rationale for each redaction, by failing to designate the redactions in the manner required by these instructions, or by including redactions which are contrary to these instructions or operative law may be rejected by the NHLC as not conforming to the requirements of the proposal.

Pricing, which includes but is not limited to, the administrative costs and other performance guarantees in Proposals or any subsequently awarded contract shall be subject to public disclosure regardless of whether it is marked as confidential.

Notwithstanding a Vendor's designations, the NHLC is obligated under the Right-to-Know law to conduct an independent analysis of the confidentiality of the information submitted in a proposal. If a request is made to the NHLC to view or receive copies of any portion of the proposal, the NHLC shall first assess what information it is obligated to release. The NHLC will then notify you that a request has been made, indicate what, if any, information the NHLC has assessed is confidential and will not be released, and specify the planned release date of the remaining portions of the proposal. To halt the release of information by the NHLC, a Vendor must initiate and provide to the NHLC, prior to the date specified in the notice, a court action in the Superior Court of the State of New Hampshire, at its sole expense, seeking to enjoin the release of the requested information.

By submitting a proposal, Vendors acknowledge and agree that:

- The NHLC may disclose any and all portions of the Proposal or related materials which are not marked as confidential and/or which have not been specifically explained in the letter to the person identified as the point of contact for this RFP;
- The NHLC is not obligated to comply with a Vendor's designations regarding confidentiality and must conduct an independent analysis to assess the confidentiality of the information submitted in your Proposal; and
- The NHLC may, unless otherwise prohibited by court order, release the information on the date specified in the notice described above without any liability to a Vendor.

I. Electronic Posting of RFP Results and Resulting Contract

At the time of receipt of proposals, the NHLC will post the number of responses received with no further information. No later than five (5) business days prior to submission of a contract to the Department of Administrative Services, the NHLC will post the ranks or scores of each responding

Vendor. In the event that the contract does not require Governor & Executive Council (G&C) approval, the NHLC will disclose the rank or score at least 5 business days before final approval of the contract.

Pursuant to RSA 91-A and RSA 9-F:1, the Secretary of State will post to the public any document submitted to G&C for approval, including contracts resulting from this RFP, and posts those documents on its website (https://sos.nh.gov/administration/miscellaneous/governor-executive-council/). By submitting a Proposal, Vendors acknowledge and agree that, in accordance with the above-mentioned statutes and policies, (and regardless of whether any specific request is made to view any document relating to this RFP), any contract resulting from this RFP that is submitted to G&C for approval will be made accessible to the public online.

J. Non-Commitment

Notwithstanding any other provision of this RFP, this RFP does not commit the NHLC to award a contract. The NHLC reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to reject any and all proposals, or any portions thereof, at any time; to cancel this RFP; and to solicit new proposals under a new acquisition process.

K. Ethical Requirements

From the time this RFP is published until a contract is awarded, no Vendor shall offer or give, directly or indirectly, any gift, expense reimbursement, or honorarium, as defined by RSA 15-B, to any elected official, public official, public employee, constitutional official, or family member of any such official or employee who will or has selected, evaluated, or awarded an RFP, or similar submission. Any Vendor that violates RSA 21-G:38 shall be subject to prosecution for an offense under RSA 640:2. Any Vendor who has been convicted of an offense based on conduct in violation of this section, which has not been annulled, or who is subject to a pending criminal charge for such an offense, shall be disqualified from bidding on the RFP, or similar request for submission and every such Vendor shall be disqualified from bidding on any RFP or similar request for submission issued by any state agency. A Vendor that was disqualified under this section because of a pending criminal charge which is subsequently dismissed, results in an acquittal, or is annulled, may notify the Department of Administrative Services, which shall note that information on the list maintained on the state's internal intranet system, except in the case of annulment, the information, shall be deleted from the list.

L. Challenges to Identification of Selected Vendor

Within 5 business days of the NHLC's posting of the rank or score on its website, Vendors may, in accordance with RSA 21-G:37, request that the NHLC review its selection process. The request must be in writing and must specify all points on which the Vendor believes the NHLC erred in its process and shall contain such argument in support of its position as the Vendor seeks to present. In its request for review, a Vendor shall not submit, and the NHLC will not accept nor consider, any substantive information that was not included in the original Proposal. The NHLC will respond to the request within 5 business days of its receipt.

SECTION 6: PROPOSAL SUBMISSION INSTRUCTIONS

A. Proposal Format

Proposals are to be submitted in both physical and electronic formats. In the event of a discrepancy between the Physical Proposal and the Electronic Proposal submitted by a Vendor, the Physical Proposal shall take precedence.

Vendors are permitted to submit one (1) Proposal in response to this RFP. Proposals shall consist of a Technical Proposal and a Cost Proposal. The Cost Proposal must be labeled clearly and submitted separately from the Technical Proposal.

If a Proposal contains information that a Vendor believes to be confidential, the Vendor must submit one electronic copy of the Proposal with all confidential information fully redacted and comply will all other requirements of Section 5(H) of this RFP.

B. Deadline

Physical Proposals and Electronic Proposals submitted in response to this RFP must be received no later than the time and date specified in the Schedule of Events, herein. Late submissions will not be accepted. Delivery of the Proposals shall be the Vendor's responsibility and at the Vendor's expense. The time of receipt shall be considered when a Proposal has been officially documented by the NHLC, in accordance with its established policies, as having been received at the location and via email as designated below. The NHLC accepts no responsibility for damaged, mislabeled, or undeliverable mailed or emailed Proposals. Any damage that may occur due to shipping shall be the Vendor's responsibility.

C. Submission Location and Instructions

1. Physical Proposals

Physical Proposals must be addressed to:

State of New Hampshire Liquor Commission Attention: Janet Donnelly 50 Storrs Street Concord, NH 03301

Proposals must be clearly marked as follows:

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE LIQUOR COMMISSION RESPONSE TO RFP: NHLC RFP# 2025-03-ADVERTISING

Physical Submissions shall include:

Package 1- Technical Proposal:

a. One (1) original and three (3) clearly identified copies of the Technical Proposal, including all attachments.

Package 2 – Cost Proposal:

- **a.** A separate Cost Proposal must be labeled clearly and sealed separately from the Technical Proposal.
- **b.** One (1) original and three (3) copies of the Cost Proposal, including the Cost Proposal Worksheet as described in Appendix A.

2. Electronic Proposals

Electronic Proposals must be addressed to:

TO: Janet.M.Donnelly@liquor.nh.gov CC: Stephanie.D.Bosstick@liquor.nh.gov

Proposals must be clearly marked as follows:

Subject: RESPONSE TO RFP: NHLC RFP# 2025-03-ADVERTISING

Electronic Submissions must be submitted using the following criteria:

Searchable PDF Format

Files must be less than 10MB in size.

a. Exception: If files are greater than 10MB in size, the Vendor will be required to submit their Proposal in parts. It is the Vendor's responsibility to ensure a complete Proposal is submitted.

Electronic Submissions shall include:

Attachment 1: Technical Proposal

a. The Technical Proposal, including all required attachments.

Attachment 2: Cost Proposal

- **a.** The Cost Proposal must be labeled clearly and submitted separately from the Technical Proposal.
- **b.** The Cost Proposal must include the Cost Proposal Worksheet as described in Appendix A.

SECTION 7: PROPOSAL ORGANIZATION AND CONTENT

A. Proposal Organization

Each page of the Proposal should include a page number, the number of total pages, and identification of the Vendor in the page footer. Each section of the Proposal should be clearly identified.

The Proposal should be organized as follows:

1. Technical Proposal

- a. Cover Page
- b. Table of Contents
- c. Section I: Marketing Strategy and Creative
- d. Section II: Experience and Qualifications
- e. Section III: Vendor Attachments

2. Cost Proposal

- a. Cover Page
- b. Completed Cost Proposal Worksheet as described in Appendix A

B. Technical Proposal Components

1. Cover Page

The first page of the Vendor's Technical Proposal should be a cover page containing the following text:

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE LIQUOR COMMISSION RESPONSE TO RFP: NHLC RFP# 2025-03-ADVERTISING PROFESSIONAL ADVERTISING SERVICES TECHNICAL PROPOSAL

The cover page should also include the Vendor's name and address, as well as the contact person, contact telephone number and email address.

2. Table of Contents

The Vendor must provide a table of contents with corresponding page numbers related to its Proposal.

3. Section I: Marketing Strategy and Creative

The Vendor must provide responses to all subsections listed below in Section 7(D)(1): Marketing Strategy, Creative, and Significant Digital Media Campaign. Each subsection should be clearly labeled and/or distinguished for clarity, with the starting page of each subsection indicated in the Table of Contents.

4. Section II: Experience and Qualifications

The Vendor must provide responses to all subsections listed below in Section 7(D)(2): Corporate Overview, Retail Experience, Regulatory and Government Experience, Microsoft Dynamics 365 Experience, Website Inventory Information, Vendor Staff and Resumes, Sample Work, References, Financial Strength, and Litigation. Each subsection should be clearly labeled and/or distinguished for clarity, with the starting page of each subsection indicated in the Table of Contents.

5. Section III: Vendor Attachments

Section III provides for extra materials that may be referenced in Sections I and II of the Technical Proposal.

C. Cost Proposal Components

The Cost Proposal must be labeled clearly and submitted separately from the Technical Proposal. The Cost Proposal must include the following:

1. A Cover Page that includes the Vendor's name and address, as well as the contact person, contact telephone number and email address, as well as the following text:

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE LIQUOR COMMISSION RESPONSE TO RFP: NHLC RFP# 2025-03-ADVERTISING PROFESSIONAL ADVERTISING SERVICES COST PROPOSAL

2. A completed Cost Proposal Worksheet prepared using the format provided in Appendix A and any discussion necessary to ensure understanding of the data provided.

D. Technical Proposal Content

Vendors should provide narrative responses to the topics below and provide examples and attachments as appropriate.

1. Marketing Strategy and Creative

a. Marketing Strategy

Describe the agency's philosophy and approach to developing a marketing strategy. Describe the agency's process for developing, pitching, and executing creative concepts. Describe the agency's methodology for building and leveraging a brand identity. Explain the agency's process for ensuring that its advertising product is aligned with the client's goals.

b. Creative

Demonstrate the agency's experience and ability to produce effective and innovative marketing and promotional materials, including:

- 1. Point-of-sale posters and brochures
- 2. Web-based marketing
- **3.** Television and radio commercials
- **4.** Print advertisements
- **5.** Event marketing, including but not limited to grand openings, celebrity appearances, and in-store events.

c. Significant Digital Media Campaign

Describe and provide examples of a significant digital media campaign that the agency developed and implemented. Include a marketing analysis justifying the campaign, including other ideas that were considered, and explain why the particular campaign was chosen. Describe, including supporting data, the method chosen for implementing the campaign. Provide an analysis of the campaign's success or failure, based on accepted statistical and marketing data analytics.

2. Vendor Experience and Qualifications

a. Corporate Overview

For Vendor and any proposed Subcontractors, provide a history of the agency, including number of years in business and major business areas. Provide a high-level description of the agency's organization and staff size.

b. Retail Experience

Describe the agency's experience with retail clients, highlighting specific experience with retail clients of a size and scope similar to that of the NHLC. Include specific experience with online retail sales and in-store product pick up.

c. Regulatory and Government Experience

Describe the agency's experience with advertising, marketing, and public relations projects for regulatory or governmental clients. Include particular experience with managing public relations and industry publications.

d. Microsoft Dynamics 365 Experience

Describe, in detail, the agency's experience using Microsoft Dynamics 365.

e. Website Inventory Information

The NHLC's websites need to provide users with product information and images for the entire suite of NHLC approved products for both informational and purchase purposes. Discuss how the agency will provide product information and images for website inventory.

f. Vendor Staff and Resumes

Identify the Vendor Staff that will work on the NHLC account and provide a resume or curriculum vitae for each person.

g. Sample Work

Provide examples of work done by the Vendor and by individuals who would be assigned to the NHLC account. Include examples of traditional and digital marketing, including direct-to-consumer promotions.

h. References

Provide at least three (3) client references, including name, current address, telephone number, and email address for the responsible client official, which the NHLC may contact. The NHLC reserves the right to contact any and all persons listed by the agency concerning past work experience.

i. Financial Strength

Provide at least one of the following for the Vendor and any proposed Subcontractor:

- 1. The current Dunn & Bradstreet report on the company; or
- 2. The company's two most recent audited financial statements with related audit opinions and the company's most recent un-audited, quarterly financial statement; or
- 3. The company's most recent income tax return. For example, either a copy of the IRS Form 1065, U.S. Return of Partnership Income or Schedule E (IRS Form 1040) Supplemental Income and Loss (for partnerships and S corporations) OR IRS Form 1120, U.S. Corporation Income Return. These forms are typically submitted when a Vendor does not have audited financial statements.

i. Litigation

Identify and describe any claims made by clients against the Vendor or any proposed Subcontractor during the last ten (10) years. Discuss merits, current status, and if available, outcome of each matter.

SECTION 8: EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS

A. Criteria for Evaluation and Scoring

The NHLC will score Proposals based on a total of 115 possible points. A maximum of 60 points is available for Technical Proposal component of the proposal, a maximum of 25 points is available for the Oral Presentation component, and a maximum of 30 points is available for the Cost Proposal. Each timely and responsive Proposal will be evaluated and considered according to the following criteria:

Technical (60 points)

- <u>Marketing Strategy and Creativity</u> (35 points) including but not limited to strength of vendor creative design, strength of analysis, expertise with media planning and placement, competency with digital and emerging technologies
- Experience and Qualifications (25 points) including but not limited to knowledge and experience of vendor staff, tenure of vendor, financial condition, experience with Microsoft Dynamics 365, and experience with web-based and direct-to-consumer marketing

<u>Oral Presentation</u> (25 points) – demonstration of vendor and key staff ability and innovation, ability to achieve marketing objectives within budget, methodology for measuring program effectiveness, vendor services available to the NHLC, knowledge of alcohol industry

<u>Cost Proposal</u> (30 points) – monthly retainer fee and hourly rates for key services for the term of the contract (see Appendix A for the Cost Proposal format)

CATEGORIES	PO	POINTS	
TECHNICAL		60	
Marketing Strategy and Creativity	35		
Experience and Qualifications	25		
ORAL PRESENTATION		25	
PRICE PROPOSAL		30	
TOTAL POTENTIAL POINTS		115	

The NHLC will select a Vendor based upon the criteria and standards contained in this RFP and from applying the weighting in this section. Reference checks, to the extent they are utilized by the NHLC, will be used to refine and finalize scores.

If the NHLC decides to make an award based on these evaluations, the NHLC will notify the selected Vendor(s) and begin negotiations. Should the NHLC be unable to reach agreement with

the high-scoring Vendor(s) during contract discussions, the NHLC may then undertake contract discussions with the next high-scoring Vendor and so on, or the NHLC may reject all proposals, cancel this RFP, or solicit new Proposals under a new acquisition process.

B. Planned Evaluations Steps

The NHLC plans to use the following process:

- 1. Step 1. Initial screening to ensure that the Proposals are in compliance with submission requirements;
- 2. Step 2. Preliminary evaluation of the Technical Proposals;
- 3. Step 3. Oral Presentation and Vendor Tour;
- 4. Step 4. Final Scoring of Technical Proposals;
- 5. Step 5. Cost Proposals Scoring;
- **6.** Step 6: Best and Final Offer
- 7. Step 7: Final Selection: Select the highest scoring vendor(s) and begin contract execution.

C. Step 1: Initial Screening

The NHLC will conduct an initial screening to verify Vendor compliance with the proposal submission requirements set forth in this RFP. The NHLC may waive or offer a limited opportunity to cure immaterial deviations from the RFP requirements if it is determined to be in the best interest of the State.

D. Step 2: Preliminary Technical Scoring of Proposals

The NHLC will establish an evaluation team to score the Technical Proposals. The evaluation team will review the Technical Proposals and give a preliminary score to the Technical Proposals under the guidelines set forth in Sections 7 and 8. Should a Vendor fail to achieve 40 points in the preliminary technical scoring, it will receive no further consideration from the evaluation team and the Vendor's Cost Proposal will remain unopened. Cost Proposals will not be reviewed by the evaluation team during the preliminary technical review.

E. Step 3: Oral Presentation and Agency Tour

Each Vendor that receives a preliminary technical score of 40 points or more as described in Section 8(A) will be invited to provide a tour of the agency and make an oral presentation, as more specifically described below. The NHLC retains sole discretion to determine whether an Agency will be invited to provide a tour and make a presentation; achieving a score of 40 points or more on the Technical Proposal does not guarantee that the Agency will be invited to provide a tour and presentation. Any Agency not scoring at least 40 points on the Technical Proposal will not receive further consideration.

1. Agency Tour

The tour should focus on demonstrating the Vendor's capacity to meet the diverse needs of the NHLC. The NHLC will expect to meet the team that will be in charge of the NHLC account.

2. Oral Presentation

As part of the Agency tour, the Agency shall be expected to make an oral presentation, which shall include a review of a particularly successful campaign. The NHLC will expect

the presentation to describe the results of the campaign and explain how success was measured. The NHLC will also expect to see examples of design work. The NHLC will be particularly interested in seeing examples of successful digital and social media campaigns.

During the Oral Presentation, the Vendor should also present an idea for a hypothetical two-month winter promotion campaign with a budget of \$40,000. The campaign should be designed to attract new customers into our stores, add to our current customer email list and encourage current customers to stock up. The NHLC will be looking for a campaign overview, samples of design elements and an outline budget, including materials and costs.

Vendors are prohibited from altering the basic substance of their Proposals during the Oral Presentation and Agency Tour.

F. Step 4: Final Scoring of Technical Proposals and Oral Presentations

Following the Oral Presentation, reference checks (if appropriate) and/or review of any written clarifications of Proposals requested by the NHLC, the evaluation team will determine a final score for each Technical Proposal and the Oral Presentation.

G. Step 5: Cost Proposal Review

The evaluation team will unseal and review Cost Proposals after the Technical Proposals and Oral Presentation/Agency Tours have been scored. The Cost Proposal submission form is located in Appendix A.

The Cost Proposal will be allocated a maximum potential score of 30 points. The Retainer Fee is worth a total of 10 points. The hourly rates for key services are worth a total of 20 points. Each service is assigned a weight (indicated in parentheses), which will be used to factor the hourly rate into points and added for comparison purposes (this weighted hourly rate is the "Agency's Proposed Price").

The following formula will be used to assign points for scoring:

$$\begin{array}{c} \text{Vendor's Cost} \\ \text{Proposal} \\ \text{Score} \end{array} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \text{Lowest} & \text{Vendor's} \\ \text{Proposed} & \div & \text{Proposed} \\ \text{Price} & \text{Price} \end{array} \right) \hspace{0.1cm} \times \hspace{0.1cm} \begin{array}{c} \text{Total} \\ \text{Possible Points} \end{array}$$

For the purpose of evaluating Cost Proposals, the "Lowest Proposed Price" is defined as the lowest price proposed by a Vendor that received a technical scored above the minimum necessary for consideration.

Vendors are advised that this **is not a lowest bid award** and that the score of the Cost Proposal will be combined with the other categories to determine the highest scoring Vendor.

H. Step 6: Best and Final Offer (BAFO)

Upon completion of the scoring process outlined in Section 8 above, the NHLC may, at its sole option, invite the highest scoring Vendors to submit a "Best and Final Offer" for the NHLC's

consideration. The NHLC reserves the right to select the Vendor based solely on the initial proposals and is under no obligation to solicit or accept a BAFO from any Vendors. As the NHLC may not request a Best and Final Offer, Vendors are encouraged to provide their most competitive prices in their initial proposals.

The Best and Final Offer (BAFO) is a one-time invitation only process for a Vendor to submit its lowest priced offer for the NHLC's consideration. The NHLC will provide a deadline submission date for the BAFO and may uniformly communicate in writing any price/cost targets that the NHLC is seeking in the BAFO. All restrictions on contact with State employees outlined in this RFP shall remain in effect.

Each invited Vendor may only make one BAFO. The BAFO may not alter the substance of the Vendor's Technical Proposal or Oral Presentation. The BAFO may only amend the Vendor's initial Cost Proposal.

To the extent the NHLC solicits and receives a BAFO pursuant to this section, the NHLC will rescore the BAFO participants' Cost Proposals after review of the BAFO in accordance with Section 8G (Calculation of the Price Proposal Score). The NHLC will not select a Vendor based on the lowest priced BAFO proposal. A final selection, if any, shall be based on the combined score of the Technical Proposal, Oral Presentation, and BAFO pricing. Only those Vendors who were invited to submit a BAFO will be considered for the award.

I. Step 7: Final Selection

The NHLC will conduct a final selection based on the final evaluation of the Proposals and begin contract discussions with the selected vendor(s).

J. Rights of the Agency in Accepting and Evaluating Proposals

The NHLC reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to:

- 1. Make independent investigations in evaluating proposals;
- 2. Request additional information to clarify elements of a proposal;
- **3.** Waive minor or immaterial deviations from the RFP and contract requirements, if determined to be in the best interest of the State;
- **4.** Omit any planned evaluation step if, in the NHLC's view, the step is not needed;
- 5. Reject any and all proposals at any time; and
- **6.** Open contract discussions with the second highest scoring vendor and so on, if the NHLC is unable to reach an agreement on contract terms with the higher scoring vendor(s).

APPENDIX A: COST PROPOSAL WORKSHEET

Cost Proposals must be submitted in the following format, including heading descriptions:

A.	A. RETAINER FEE and HOURLY RATES To be considered, please submit a bid for your retainer fee. For purposes of the retainer fee, media is estimated to be approximately 50% of the appropriated budget of approximately \$3 million dollars per state fiscal year. The retainer fee should be provided as a percentage of annual expenses and is expected to cover the following services: • Client Services (including weekly and monthly meetings)			
	•	Media Planning, Recommendation and Placement Accounting and Administration	•	
		5	I	Retainer Fee:%
	Provide h	ourly rates for the following services:		
	•	Creative Design	(.25)	Hourly Rate:
	•	Production (see definitions in Section C below)	(.25)	Hourly Rate:
	•	Strategic Planning	(.20)	Hourly Rate:
	•	Copywriting and Research	(.05)	Hourly Rate:
	•	Technical Development (web, apps, etc.)	(.10)	Hourly Rate:
	•	Web Maintenance	(.05)	Hourly Rate:
	•	Social Media Management	(.10)	Hourly Rate:
		* The weight assigned to each service is the factor	•	h the hourly rate will be

B. TRAVEL, LODGING AND MEALS

VENDOR NAME:

Travel requests for meetings and conferences shall be pre-approved by the NHLC. Travel shall be subject to the same regulations imposed on State Employees. Travel requests, which are not pre-approved, shall not be reimbursed.

Mileage reimbursement will be at the prevailing State mileage rate.

C. PRODUCTION

Production means the physical creation of advertising materials, as follows:

• Print Ads: involving layout, type specification, paste up, finished artwork or photography, copywriting, type composition, negatives and proofs.

converted, as explained in Section 8(G) of the RFP.

- Point-of-Sale Materials: involving but not limited to layout, type specifications, paste up, finished artwork or photography, type composition, permanent signage, and printing.
- Radio: involving script writing and direction, talent and studio costs.
- Television and Video Production: involving script writing and direction, storyboards, talent, props, sets or location expenses, studios, photography or videotaping costs, release prints or videotapes.
- Web-based Advertising: involving design, layout and copy and detail reports of results.

APPENDIX B: FORM P-37 STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE GENERAL PROVISIONS AND EXHIBITS

FORM NUMBER P-37 (version 2/23/2023)

Notice: This agreement and all of its attachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietary must be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The State of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. IDENTIFICATION.

1.1 State Agency Name		1.2 State Agency Address			
1.3 Contractor Name	3 Contractor Name		1.4 Contractor Address		
1.5 Contractor Phone Number	1.6 Account Unit and Class	1.7 Completion Date	1.8 Price Limitation		
1.9 Contracting Officer for Sta	Officer for State Agency 1.10 State Agency Telephone Number		l umber		
1.11 Contractor Signature	tractor Signature 1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatory		ctor Signatory		
Date:					
1.13 State Agency Signature		1.14 Name and Title of State Agency Signatory			
	Date:				
1.15 Approval by the N.H. Dep	partment of Administration, Division	on of Personnel (if applicable)			
Ву:	By: Director, On:				
1.16 Approval by the Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (if applicable)					
By: On:		On:			
1.17 Approval by the Governor and Executive Council (if applicable)					
G&C Item number:	G&C Meeting Date:				

2. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED. The State of New Hampshire, acting through the agency identified in block 1.1 ("State"), engages contractor identified in block 1.3 ("Contractor") to perform, and the Contractor shall perform, the work or sale of goods, or both, identified and more particularly described in the attached EXHIBIT B which is incorporated herein by reference ("Services").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.

- 3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor and Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if applicable, this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall become effective on the date the Governor and Executive Council approve this Agreement, unless no such approval is required, in which case the Agreement shall become effective on the date the Agreement is signed by the State Agency as shown in block 1.13 ("Effective Date").
- 3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior to the Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not become effective, the State shall have no liability to the Contractor, including without limitation, any obligation to pay the Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
- 3.3 Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including, without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation of funds. In no event shall the State be liable for any payments hereunder in excess of such available appropriated funds. In the event of a reduction or termination of appropriated funds by any state or federal legislative or executive action that reduces, eliminates or otherwise modifies the appropriation or availability of funding for this Agreement and the Scope for Services provided in EXHIBIT B, in whole or in part, the State shall have the right to withhold payment until such funds become available, if ever, and shall have the right to reduce or terminate the Services under this Agreement immediately upon giving the Contractor notice of such reduction or termination. The State shall not be required to transfer funds from any other account or source to the Account identified in block 1.6 in the event funds in that Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/ PAYMENT.

- are identified and more particularly described in EXHIBIT C which is incorporated herein by reference.
- 5.2 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in no event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually made hereunder, exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block 1.8. The Agreement. payment by the State of the contract price shall be the only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the performance

hereof, and shall be the only and the complete compensation to the Contractor for the Services.

- 5.3 The State reserves the right to offset from any amounts otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement those liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.H. RSA 80:7 through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision of law.
- 5.4 The State's liability under this Agreement shall be limited to monetary damages not to exceed the total fees paid. The Contractor agrees that it has an adequate remedy at law for any breach of this Agreement by the State and hereby waives any right to specific performance or other equitable remedies against the State.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS/EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY.

- 6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the Contractor shall comply with all applicable statutes, laws, regulations, and orders of federal, state, county or municipal authorities which impose any obligation or duty upon the Contractor, including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal employment opportunity laws and the Governor's order on Respect and Civility in the Workplace, Executive order 2020-01. In addition, if this Agreement is funded in any part by monies of the United States, the Contractor shall comply with all federal executive orders, rules, regulations and statutes, and with any rules, regulations and guidelines as the State or the United States issue to implement these regulations. The Contractor shall also comply with all applicable intellectual property laws.
- 6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall not discriminate against employees or applicants for employment because of age, sex, sexual orientation, race, color, marital status, physical or mental disability, religious creed, national origin, gender identity, or gender expression, and will take affirmative action to prevent such discrimination, unless exempt by state or federal law. The Contractor shall ensure any subcontractors comply with these nondiscrimination requirements.
- 6.3 No payments or transfers of value by Contractor or its representatives in connection with this Agreement have or shall be made which have the purpose or effect of public or commercial bribery, or acceptance of or acquiescence in extortion, kickbacks, or other unlawful or improper means of obtaining business.
- 6.4. The Contractor agrees to permit the State or United States access to any of the Contractor's books, records and accounts for the purpose of ascertaining compliance with this Agreement and all rules, regulations and orders pertaining to the covenants, terms and conditions of this Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

- 7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all personnel 5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of payment necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor warrants that all personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified to perform the Services, and shall be properly licensed and otherwise authorized to do so under all applicable laws.
 - 7.2 The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or any successor, shall be the State's point of contact pertaining to this

8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

- 8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder ("Event of Default"):
- 8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on schedule;
- 8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereunder; and/or
- 8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition of this Agreement.
- 8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
- 8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in the absence of a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is not timely cured, terminate this Agreement, effective two (2) calendar days after giving the Contractor notice of termination;
- 8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of Default and suspending all payments to be made under this 12. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS. Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the period from the date of such notice until such time as the State determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default shall never be paid to the Contractor;
- 8.2.3 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of Default and set off against any other obligations the State may owe to the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of any Event of Default; and/or
- 8.2.4 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of Default, treat the Agreement as breached, terminate the Agreement and pursue any of its remedies at law or in equity, or both.

9. TERMINATION.

- 9.1 Notwithstanding paragraph 8, the State may, at its sole discretion, terminate the Agreement for any reason, in whole or in part, by thirty (30) calendar days written notice to the Contractor assignment agreements and shall not be bound by any provisions that the State is exercising its option to terminate the Agreement.
- 9.2 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for any reason other than the completion of the Services, the Contractor shall, at the State's discretion, deliver to the Contracting Officer, not later than fifteen (15) calendar days after the date of termination, a report ("Termination Report") describing in detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to and including the date of termination. In addition, at the State's discretion, the Contractor shall, within fifteen (15) calendar days of notice of early termination, develop and submit to the State a transition plan for Services under the Agreement.

10. PROPERTY OWNERSHIP/DISCLOSURE.

10.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "Property" shall mean all data, information and things developed or obtained during the performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports, files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic representations, computer programs, computer printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, papers, and documents, all whether finished or unfinished.

- 10.2 All data and any Property which has been received from the State, or purchased with funds provided for that purpose under this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon termination of this Agreement for any reason.
- 10.3 Disclosure of data, information and other records shall be governed by N.H. RSA chapter 91-A and/or other applicable law. Disclosure requires prior written approval of the State.
- 11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In the performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all respects an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor an employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation or other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

- 12.1 Contractor shall provide the State written notice at least fifteen (15) calendar days before any proposed assignment, delegation, or other transfer of any interest in this Agreement. No such assignment, delegation, or other transfer shall be effective without the written consent of the State.
- 12.2 For purposes of paragraph 12, a Change of Control shall constitute assignment. "Change of Control" means (a) merger, consolidation, or a transaction or series of related transactions in which a third party, together with its affiliates, becomes the direct or indirect owner of fifty percent (50%) or more of the voting shares or similar equity interests, or combined voting power of the Contractor, or (b) the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Contractor.
- 12.3 None of the Services shall be subcontracted by the Contractor without prior written notice and consent of the State.
- 12.4 The State is entitled to copies of all subcontracts and contained in a subcontract or an assignment agreement to which it is not a party.
- 13. INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the State, its officers, and employees from and against all actions, claims, damages, demands, judgments, fines, liabilities, losses, and other expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees, arising out of or relating to this Agreement directly or indirectly arising from death, personal injury, property damage, intellectual property infringement, or other claims asserted against the State, its officers, or employees caused by the acts or omissions of negligence, reckless or willful misconduct, or fraud by the Contractor, its employees, agents, or subcontractors. The State shall not be liable for any costs incurred by the Contractor arising under this paragraph 13. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the State's sovereign immunity, which immunity is hereby reserved to the State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

- 14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and continuously maintain in force, and shall require any subcontractor or assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the following insurance:
- 14.1.1 commercial general liability insurance against all claims of bodily injury, death or property damage, in amounts of not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence and \$2,000,000 aggregate or excess; and
- 14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all Property subject to subparagraph 10.2 herein, in an amount not less than 80% of the whole replacement value of the Property.
- 14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the State of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and issued by insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire.
- 14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or any successor, a certificate(s) of insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement. At the request of the Contracting Officer, or any successor, the Contractor shall provide certificate(s) of insurance for all renewal(s) of insurance required under this Agreement. The certificate(s) of insurance and any renewals thereof shall be attached and are incorporated herein by reference.

15. WORKERS' COMPENSATION.

- 15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees, certifies and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with or exempt from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A ("Workers' Compensation").
- 15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A, Contractor shall maintain, and require any subcontractor or assignee to secure and maintain, payment of Workers' Compensation in connection with activities which the person proposes to undertake pursuant to this Agreement. The Contractor shall furnish the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or any successor, proof of Workers' Compensation in the manner described in N.H. RSA chapter 281-A and any applicable renewal(s) thereof, which shall be attached and are incorporated herein by reference. The State shall not be responsible for payment of any Workers' Compensation premiums or for any other claim or benefit for Contractor, or any subcontractor or employee of Contractor, which might arise under applicable State of New Hampshire Workers' Compensation laws in connection with the performance of the Services under this Agreement.
- **16. WAIVER OF BREACH.** A State's failure to enforce its rights with respect to any single or continuing breach of this Agreement shall not act as a waiver of the right of the State to later enforce any such rights or to enforce any other or any subsequent breach.
- **17. NOTICE.** Any notice by a party hereto to the other party shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the time of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United States Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses given in blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

18. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto and only after approval of such amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire unless no such approval is required under the circumstances pursuant to State law, rule or policy.

19. CHOICE OF LAW AND FORUM.

- 19.1 This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New Hampshire except where the Federal supremacy clause requires otherwise. The wording used in this Agreement is the wording chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of construction shall be applied against or in favor of any party.
- 19.2 Any actions arising out of this Agreement, including the breach or alleged breach thereof, may not be submitted to binding arbitration, but must, instead, be brought and maintained in the Merrimack County Superior Court of New Hampshire which shall have exclusive jurisdiction thereof.
- **20. CONFLICTING TERMS.** In the event of a conflict between the terms of this P-37 form (as modified in EXHIBIT A) and any other portion of this Agreement including any attachments thereto, the terms of the P-37 (as modified in EXHIBIT A) shall control.
- **21. THIRD PARTIES.** This Agreement is being entered into for the sole benefit of the parties hereto, and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or will confer any legal or equitable right, benefit, or remedy of any nature upon any other person.
- **22. HEADINGS**. The headings throughout the Agreement are for reference purposes only, and the words contained therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or aid in the interpretation, construction or meaning of the provisions of this Agreement.
- **23. SPECIAL PROVISIONS.** Additional or modifying provisions set forth in the attached EXHIBIT A are incorporated herein by reference.
- **24. FURTHER ASSURANCES.** The Contractor, along with its agents and affiliates, shall, at its own cost and expense, execute any additional documents and take such further actions as may be reasonably required to carry out the provisions of this Agreement and give effect to the transactions contemplated hereby.
- **25. SEVERABILITY.** In the event any of the provisions of this Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect.
- **26. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.** This Agreement, which may be executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings with respect to the subject matter hereof.

P-37 Agreement Exhibit A: Special Provisions

The terms outlined in the P-37 General Provisions are modified as set forth below:

A. Provision 3, Effective Date/Completion of Services, is updated with the following addition:

- **3.4** The Term may be extended may be extended by up to two (2) additional terms of up to two (2) years each ("Extended Term") at the sole option of the State, subject to the parties' prior written Agreement on terms and applicable fees for each Extended Term. Any such extension shall be contingent upon satisfactory Contractor performance, continued funding, and approval by the Governor and Executive Council.
- **3.5 Force Majeure:** Neither the Contractor nor the State shall be responsible for delays or failures in performance resulting from events beyond the control of such party and without fault or negligence of such party. Such events shall include, but not be limited to, acts of God, strikes, lock outs, riots, acts of War, epidemics, acts of Government, fire, power failures, nuclear accidents, earthquakes, and unusually severe weather.
- **3.5.1** Except in the event of the foregoing, Force Majeure events shall not include the Contractor's inability to hire or provide personnel needed for the Contractor's performance under the Contract.
- **3.5.2** In the event a party cannot timely perform an obligation due to a Force Majeure event, that party shall provide the other party with an explanation of the event and any additional information the other party reasonably requires to substantiate the claim, and shall provide updates as to the status of such Force Majeure event in such detail and upon such frequency as the other party may reasonably require.
- **3.5.3** In the event that the Contractor's performance is delayed for more than ninety (90) days due to a Force Majeure event, the State may terminate the Contract.

B. Provision 5, Contract Price/Price Limitation/ Payment, is updated with the following addition:

5.5 Subject to applicable laws and regulations, in no event shall the State be liable for any consequential, special, indirect, incidental, punitive, or exemplary damages. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby reserved to the State.

C. Provision 8, Event of Default/Remedies, is updated with the following addition:

8.2.5 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of Default, terminate the Agreement as breached, and procure Services that are the subject of the Contract from another source and Contractor shall be liable for reimbursing the State for the replacement Services, and all administrative costs directly related to the replacement of the Contract and procuring the Services from another source, such as costs of competitive bidding, mailing, advertising, applicable fees, charges or penalties, and staff time costs; all of which shall be subject to the limitations of liability set forth in the Contract.

D. Provision 9, Termination, is deleted and replaced with the following:

9. TERMINATION

9.1 Notwithstanding paragraph 8, the State may, at its sole discretion, and with written notice, terminate the Agreement for any reason, in whole or in part. In the event of such termination, the Contractor shall immediately stop all work hereunder and shall immediately cause any and all of its suppliers and subcontractors to cease work. The State shall be liable for cost of all Services and Deliverables for which Acceptance has been given by the State, provided through the date of termination but will not be liable for any costs for incomplete Services or winding down the Contract activities. The Contractor shall not be paid for any work performed or costs incurred which reasonably could have been avoided.

9.2 Termination Procedure

- **9.2.1** Upon termination of the Contract, the State, in addition to any other rights provided in the Contract, may require Contractor to deliver to the State any property, including without limitation, Software and Written Deliverables, for such part of the Contract as has been terminated.
- **9.2.2** After receipt of a notice of termination, and except as otherwise directed by the State, Contractor shall:
 - **a.** Stop work under the Contract on the date, and to the extent specified, in the notice:
 - **b.** Promptly, but in no event longer than ten (10) days after termination, terminate its orders and subcontracts related to the work which has been terminated, and settle all outstanding liabilities and all claims arising out of such termination of orders and subcontracts, with the approval or ratification of the State to the extent required, which approval or ratification shall be final for the purpose of this Section;
 - **c.** Take such action as the State directs, or as necessary to preserve and protect the property related to the Contract which is in the possession of Contractor and in which the State has an interest:
 - **d.** Take no action to intentionally erase any State data until directed by the State;
 - **e.** Transfer title to the State and deliver in the manner, at the times, and to the extent directed by the State, any property which is required to be furnished to the State and which has been accepted or requested by the State;
 - **f.** Implement an orderly return of State data in a CSV or another mutually agreeable format at a time agreed to by the parties;
 - g. Securely dispose of all requested data in all of its forms, such as disk, CD / DVD, backup tape and paper, when requested by the State. Data shall be permanently deleted and shall not be recoverable, according to National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST)-Special Publication (SP) 800-88 approved methods. Certificates of destruction shall be provided to the State; and
 - **h.** Provide written Certification to the State that Contractor has surrendered to the State all said property and after 180 days has erased all State data.
- **9.2.3** If the Contract has expired, or terminated prior to the Completion Date, for any reason, the Contractor shall provide, for a period up to ninety (90) days after the expiration or termination, all transition services requested by the State, at no additional cost, to allow for the expired or terminated portion of the Services to continue without interruption or adverse effect,

and to facilitate the orderly transfer of such Services to the State or its designees ("Transition Services").

9.2.4 This covenant in paragraph 9 shall survive the termination of this Contract.

E. Provision 10, Property Ownership/Disclosure, is updated with the following addition:

10.4 In performing its obligations under this Agreement, Contractor may gain access to Confidential Information of the State. Confidential Information includes any and all information owned or managed by the State of New Hampshire - created, received from or on behalf of any Agency of the State or accessed in the course of performing contracted Services - of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by state or federal law or regulation. This information includes, but is not limited, to Criminal Justice Information (CJI), Protected Health Information (PHI), Personally Identifiable Information (PII), Personal Financial Information (PFI), Federal Tax Information (FTI), Social Security Numbers (SSN), Payment Card Industry (PCI), and or other sensitive and Confidential Information. The Contractor shall not use the Confidential Information developed or obtained during the performance of, or acquired, or developed by reason of the Agreement, except as directly connected to and necessary for the performance of the Agreement. Contractor shall maintain the confidentiality of and protect from unauthorized use, disclosure, publication, and reproduction (collectively "release"), all Confidential Information.

10.5 In the event of the unauthorized release of Confidential Information, Contractor shall immediately notify the State's Information Security Officer, and the State may immediately be entitled to pursue any remedy at law and in equity, including, but not limited to, injunctive relief.

10.6 Subject to applicable federal or State laws and regulations, Confidential Information shall not include information which:

- **a.** shall have otherwise become publicly available other than as a result of disclosure by the receiving Party in breach hereof;
- **b.** was disclosed to the receiving Party on a non-confidential basis from a source other than the disclosing Party, which the receiving Party believes is not prohibited from disclosing such information as a result of an obligation in favor of the disclosing Party;
- **c.** is developed by the receiving Party independently of, or was known by the receiving Party prior to, any disclosure of such information made by the disclosing Party; or
- **d.** is disclosed with the written consent of the disclosing Party.

10.7 A receiving Party also may disclose the disclosing Party's Confidential Information to the extent required by an order of a court of competent jurisdiction. Any disclosure of the Confidential Information shall require the prior written approval of the State. Contractor shall immediately notify the State if any request, subpoena or other legal process is served upon Contractor regarding the Confidential Information, and Contractor shall cooperate with the State in any effort the State undertakes to contest the request, subpoena or other legal process, at no additional cost to the State.

10.8 Contractor Confidential Information: Contractor shall clearly identify in writing all information it claims to be confidential or proprietary upon providing such information to the State. For the purposes of complying with its legal obligations, the State is under no obligation to accept the Contractor's designation of material as confidential. Contractor acknowledges that the State is subject to State and federal laws governing disclosure of information including, but not limited to, RSA Chapter 91-A. In the event the State receives a request for the information identified by Contractor as confidential, the State shall notify Contractor and specify the date the State will be releasing the requested information. At the request of the State, Contractor shall cooperate and assist the State with the collection and review of Contractor's information, at no additional expense to the State. Any effort to prohibit or enjoin the release of the information shall be Contractor's sole responsibility and at Contractor's sole expense. If Contractor fails to obtain a court order enjoining the disclosure, the State shall release the information on the date specified in the State's notice to Contractor, without any liability to the State.

10.9 This covenant in paragraph 10 shall survive the termination of this Contract.

F. Provision 12, Assignment/Delegation/Subcontracts, is updated with the following addition:

- **12.2.1** In the event that Contractor should change ownership for any reason whatsoever that results in a Change of Control of the Contractor, the State shall have the option of:
 - **a.** continuing under the Agreement with Contractor, its successors or assigns for the full remaining Term of the Agreement or for such period of time as determined necessary by the State;
 - **b.** immediately terminate the Agreement without liability to or further compensation owed to Contractor, its successors or assigns.

G. Provision 14, Insurance, is updated with the following addition:

14.1.3 Contractor shall maintain Multimedia and Professional Liability insurance in the amount of not less than \$1,000,000 per loss and \$1,000,000 aggregate

H. Provision 20, Conflicting Terms, is deleted and replaced with the following:

- **20. CONFLICTING TERMS AND ORDER OF PRECEDENCE**. In the event of conflict or ambiguity among any of the text within this Agreement, the following Order of Precedence shall govern:
 - a. State of New Hampshire, Liquor Commission Contract Agreement
 - i. Form P-37, General Provisions, as modified by Exhibit A, Special Provisions
 - ii. Exhibit C, Payment Terms and Pricing
 - iii. Exhibit B, Scope of Services
 - iv. Executed Change Orders
 - b. State of New Hampshire, Liquor Commission RFP 2025-03-ADVERTISING
 - **c.** Vendor Proposal Response to State of New Hampshire, Liquor Commission RFP 2025-03-ADVERTISING

The following Provisions are added and made part of the P-37 General Provisions:

A. Provision 27. EXHIBITS/ATTACHMENTS

The Exhibits and Attachments referred to in and attached to the Agreement are incorporated by reference as if fully included in the text of the Agreement.

B. Provision 28. NON-EXCLUSIVE CONTRACT

The State reserves the right, at its discretion, to retain other vendors to provide any of the Services or Deliverables identified under this Agreement. Contractor shall make best efforts to coordinate work with all other State vendors performing Services which relate to the work or Deliverables set forth in the Agreement. The State intends to use, whenever possible, existing Software and hardware contracts to acquire supporting Software and hardware.

C. Provision 29. GOVERNMENT APPROVALS

Contractor shall obtain all necessary and applicable regulatory or other governmental approvals necessary to perform its obligations under the Agreement.

P-37 Agreement Exhibit B: Scope of Services In addition to Services detailed in the RFP, the Scope of Services shall include the following: GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

A. RECORDS RETENTION AND ACCESS REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor shall agree to the conditions of all applicable state and federal laws and regulations, which are incorporated herein by this reference, regarding retention and access requirements, including without limitation, retention policies consistent with the Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR) Subpart 4.7 Contractor Records Retention.

The Vendor and its Subcontractors shall maintain books, records, documents, and other evidence of accounting procedures and practices, which properly and sufficiently reflect all direct and indirect costs, invoiced in the performance of their respective obligations under the Contract. The Vendor and its Subcontractors shall retain all such records for three (3) years following termination of the Contract, including any extensions. Records relating to any litigation matters regarding the Contract shall be kept for one (1) year following the termination of all litigation, including the termination of all appeals or the expiration of the appeals period.

Upon prior notice and subject to reasonable time frames, all such records shall be subject to inspection, examination, audit and copying by personnel so authorized by the State and federal officials so authorized by law, rule, regulation or Contract, as applicable. Access to these items will be provided within Merrimack County of the State of New Hampshire, unless otherwise agreed by the State. Delivery of and access to such records shall be at no cost to the State during the three (3) year period following termination of the Contract and one (1) year term following litigation relating to the Contract, including all appeals or the expiration of the appeal period. The Vendor shall include the record retention and Review requirements of this section in any of its subcontracts.

The State agrees that books, records, documents, and other evidence of accounting procedures and practices related to the Vendor's cost structure and profit factors shall be excluded from the

State's Review unless the cost or any other Services or Deliverables provided under the Contract is calculated or derived from the cost structure or profit factors.

B. ACCOUNTING REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor shall maintain an accounting system in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The costs applicable to the Contract shall be ascertainable from the accounting system and the Vendor shall maintain records pertaining to the Services and all other cost and expenditures.

C. ACCESS/COOPERATION

As applicable, and reasonably necessary, and subject to the applicable State and federal laws and regulations and restrictions imposed by third parties upon the State, the State will provide the Vendor with access to all program files, libraries, personal computer-based systems, software packages, network systems, security systems, and hardware as required to complete the contracted Services.

The State will use reasonable efforts to provide approvals, authorizations, and decisions reasonably necessary to allow the Vendor to perform its obligations under the Contract.

D. STATE-OWNED DOCUMENTS AND COPYRIGHT PRIVILEGES

The Vendor shall provide the State access to all Documents, State Data, materials, reports, and other work in progress relating to the Contract ("State Owned Documents"). Upon expiration or termination of the Contract with the State, Vendor shall turn over all State-owned Documents, State Data, material, reports, and work in progress relating to this Contract to the State at no additional cost to the State. State-Owned Documents must be provided in both printed and electronic format.

E. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The State shall hold ownership, title, and rights in any Custom Application developed in connection with the performance of obligations under the Contract, or modifications to the application and their associated Documentation.

The Vendor shall be free to use its general knowledge, skills, experience, and any other ideas, concepts, know-how, and techniques that are acquired or used in the course of its performance under the Contract.

F. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Prior to the filing of any formal proceeding with respect to a dispute (other than an action seeking injunctive relief with respect to intellectual property rights or Confidential Information), the party believing itself aggrieved (the "Invoking Party") shall call for progressive management involvement in the dispute negotiation by written notice to the other party. Such notice shall be without prejudice to the Invoking Party's right to any other remedy permitted by this Agreement.

P-37 Agreement Exhibit C: Payment Terms and Pricing

A. Contract Price

Services shall be invoiced at the rates outlined in the Cost Proposal Worksheet detailed in Appendix A.

B. Invoicing and Terms of Payment

The Vendor shall submit correct invoices to the State for all amounts to be paid by the State. All invoices submitted shall be subject to the State's written approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Vendor shall only submit invoices for Services as permitted by the Contract. Invoices must be in a format as determined by the State and contain detailed information, including without limitation: itemization of each Service and identification of the Service for which payment is sought.

Invoices sent via electronic mail shall be scanned and emailed to: APDept@liquor.nh.gov

Invoices sent via U.S. mail shall include an original plus one copy and be mailed to:
New Hampshire Liquor Commission
Accounts Payable Department
50 Storrs Street
Concord, NH 03302-0503

Upon acceptance of a properly documented invoice, the State will pay the invoice within thirty (30) days of invoice receipt. Invoices will not be backdated and shall be promptly dispatched. Payment is issued through the State Treasurer and forwarded to Vendor within fourteen (14) days after processing begins at the NHLC.

The State of New Hampshire does not pay late charges or interest.

If the State receives an invoice and the amount on the invoice is calculated incorrectly, the State shall notify the Vendor of the alleged error prior to the due date of such payment. The State and the Vendor agree to use commercially reasonable efforts to resolve the invoicing error within fifteen (15) days from such notification to the Vendor. The State shall promptly pay upon resolution of such dispute or within such fifteen (15) day period of an agreed-upon amount, whichever is later, and no late charges shall apply to that amount or the originally invoiced amount.

Invoices for all work completed during any fiscal year must be submitted within thirty (30) days after the end of that fiscal year (June 30th). Invoices not submitted within the aforementioned timeframe will require approval from the State of New Hampshire prior to processing, which may delay the payment process.

C. Overpayments to the Vendor

The Vendor shall promptly, but no later than fifteen (15) business days, pay the State the full amount of any overpayment or erroneous payment upon discovery or notice from the State.

D. Credits

The State may apply credits due to the State, arising out of this Contract, against the Vendor's invoices with appropriate information attached.

E. Shipping and Delivery Fee Exemption
The State will not pay for any shipping or delivery fee unless specifically itemize in the Contract.